

BYLAWS AND SPECIAL RULES

Adopted in convention April 8, 2018, Kenner, Louisiana

Bylaws of the Libertarian Party of Louisiana

Article 1: Name.....	2
Article 2: Period of Duration	2
Article 3: Status	2
Article 4: Purposes	2
Article 5: Statement of Principles and Platform.....	3
Article 6: Membership.....	3
Article 7: Officers	4
Article 8: State Central Committee	6
Article 9: Supporting Committees.....	9
Article 10: Parish Executive Committees	11
Article 11: Finance and Accounting.....	13
Article 12: Conventions and Caucuses.....	13
Article 13: Parliamentary Authority	15
Article 14: Amendment	15
Article 15: Judicial Matters.....	15
Article 16: Promulgation of Bylaws	15

Special Rules of the Libertarian Party of Louisiana

Rule 1: Motions and Debating.....	16
Rule 2: Voting Eligibility and Procedures	16
Rule 3: Quorums.....	17
Rule 4: Conventions	17
Rule 5: National Convention Delegate Selection.....	19
Rule 6: Nominating Candidates for Presidential Elector	20
Rule 7: State Central Committee	20
Rule 8: Parish Caucuses	22
Rule 9: Parish Executive Committees	22
Rule 10: Supporting Committees	22
Rule 11: None of the Above	23

Bylaws of the Libertarian Party of Louisiana

ARTICLE 1: NAME

These articles shall govern the free association known as the “Libertarian Party of Louisiana,” hereinafter referred to as the “Party.”

ARTICLE 2: PERIOD OF DURATION

The duration of the Party shall be perpetual in accordance with the Bylaws of the national Libertarian Party and Louisiana law.

ARTICLE 3: STATUS

The Party shall establish itself as the first and only affiliate party in the State of Louisiana to the national Libertarian Party and shall take the means set forth in the Libertarian Party's Bylaws to obtain and maintain that position.

ARTICLE 4: PURPOSES

The purposes for which the Party is organized are to implement and give voice in the State of Louisiana to the principles embodied in the Statement of Principles of the national Libertarian Party by:

1. Functioning as a libertarian political entity separate and distinct from all other political parties or movements.
2. Moving public policy in a libertarian direction by building a political party that elects Libertarians to public office.
3. Making the libertarian viewpoint heard throughout the State of Louisiana on the various issues concerning our State.
4. Joining libertarians together in a united political front of action and information in the State of Louisiana.
5. Holding conventions or caucuses of Party members in the State of Louisiana in order to select delegates to participate in the national Libertarian Party conventions in accordance with the Bylaws of the national Libertarian Party.
6. Achieving and maintaining legal status as a political party in the State of Louisiana.

ARTICLE 5: STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES AND PLATFORM

1. The Platform of the Party shall contain at least one section or plank which includes language which affirms the Statement of Principles and Platform of the National Libertarian Party.
2. The Platform of the Party may contain additional sections or planks which outline principles, policies, perspectives, or issues so long as they shall not conflict with the Statement of Principles of the National Libertarian Party.

ARTICLE 6: MEMBERSHIP

1. Registered Party members shall be those residents of the State of Louisiana who are registered to vote as affiliated with the Libertarian Party.
2. If anyone contends that they should be a registered Libertarian voter, but that their local Registrar of Voters refuses to allow them to register Libertarian, then the State Central Committee may elect to give them the privileges of a Registered member.
3. Sustaining member is any registered Party member who has met annual dues requirement to the Party in prior rolling 12 months or who is a Life Member. Sustaining member requirements may be otherwise satisfied with five hours of volunteer service for official Party projects subject to approval by the State Central Committee. Volunteer service hours require prior approval.
4. The State Central Committee may offer life memberships to all Registered Party members and must honor all prior and future life memberships.
5. The State Central Committee may create and offer other levels of membership to all Registered Party members and shall determine the contribution or dues levels for all memberships as well as the privileges associated with each.
6. Only Sustaining Party members shall
 - a. be entitled to admission to the business session of the state convention free of further charges or fees;
 - b. be entitled to vote on all official matters; and
 - c. be eligible to seek, be elected to, and hold any office of the Party.
7. Associate members of the Party shall be persons not registered to vote in Louisiana who:

- a. Are members in good standing of the Libertarian Party of the United States and reside in Louisiana; or
 - b. Have expressed their support for the Libertarian Party of Louisiana and asked to be enrolled as an associate member of the Libertarian Party of Louisiana.
8. Associate members of the Party are entitled to receive all public informational mailings of the Party and attend all conventions upon payment of registration fees, and public meetings of the Party, but they shall not be entitled to vote on official matters, nor hold any office within the party, or be nominated as a candidate for Presidential Elector.
9. Associate members who are also members in good standing of the Libertarian Party of the United States, may be chosen as delegates to a National Convention.

ARTICLE 7: OFFICERS

1. The executive officers of the Party shall be a:
 - a. Chairman who shall:
 - i. be the chief executive officer of the Party with full authority to direct its business and affairs, including hiring and discharging of Party volunteers and paid personnel, subject to express State Central Committee policies and directives issued in the exercise of the State Central Committee's plenary control and management of Party affairs, properties, and funds;
 - ii. act as liaison to the national Libertarian Party;
 - iii. preside at all conventions and meetings of the State Central Committee;
 - iv. may participate as a non-voting member of all committees of any convention; and
 - v. perform such duties as are prescribed in these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party;
 - vi. shall serve as the Assistant Treasurer for PEC purposes when needed; and
 - a
 - b. Vice-Chairman who shall:
 - i. be the chief assistant to the Chairman, performing such duties as the Chairman shall prescribe, and holding such executive powers as the

Chairman shall delegate;

- ii. perform the duties of the Chairman in the event the Chairman is, for any reason, unable to perform the duties of his office;
 - iii. see that Parishes organize and hold a Parish caucus in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party for the purpose of electing members to serve on the Parish Executive Committee, the State Central Committee and convention committees; and
 - iv. perform such other duties as are prescribed in these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party; and a
- c. Secretary who shall:
- i. be the recording officer of the Party;
 - ii. attend all meetings of the State Central Committee, and all Party conventions, and shall act as secretary thereof, being responsible for keeping and maintaining such written records as are necessary;
 - iii. make annual reports to the State Central Committee containing all information required by the Committee;
 - iv. be responsible for the arrangements of clerical services during the conventions and State Central Committee meetings as are necessary for the Party throughout the year; and
 - v. perform such other duties as are prescribed in these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party and those assigned by the Chair and/or the State Central Committee; and a
- d. Treasurer who shall:
- i. be the chief financial officer of the Party;
 - ii. receive all monies paid to the Party, and shall deposit the same in such bank or banks as shall be designated by the State Central Committee, and shall disburse said monies upon order and under the supervision of the Chair and the State Central Committee;

- iii. perform all duties required of his office by applicable law;
 - iv. be responsible for oversight of all financial functions of the Party, including, but not limited to receipts, disbursements, internal and external reporting;
 - v. make an annual financial report to the State Central Committee, prepared according to the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America; and
 - vi. perform such other duties as are prescribed in these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party and those assigned by the Chair and/or the State Central Committee.
2. All of these officers shall be elected at a Regular Convention of the Party by registered delegates to such Convention, shall take office immediately upon the close of the Convention, and shall serve thereafter until the final adjournment of the next Regular Convention.
3. The officers shall be full voting members of the State Central Committee.
4. No offices may be combined, and no Party member shall hold more than one office at a time excepting that the Secretary may exercise the duties of either the Vice-Chairman or Treasurer as needed by the party should one of those two officers not have been chosen at a regular convention, and until one can be selected by the State Central Committee.

ARTICLE 8: STATE CENTRAL COMMITTEE

1. The State Central Committee shall be composed of the following:
 - a. The executive officers of the Party;
 - b. One member from each Parish in the state. It shall be their responsibility to:
 - i. represent the Party membership within their Parish by attending all meetings of the State Central Committee and
 - ii. regularly ensure that Parish Registrars are properly allowing voters to register as Libertarian;
 - c. Four members to be elected at large from among the delegates at a Regular Convention who shall serve as:

- i. Communications Officer who shall
 - 1. attend all meetings of the State Central Committee;
 - 2. serve as the Chairman of the Media Relations Committee and be responsible for all of its obligations; and
 - 3. shall report to the National Party on State activities from time to time as such information is requested;
- ii. Membership Officer who shall
 - 1. attend all meetings of the State Central Committee and
 - 2. serve as Chairman of the Registration Committee and be responsible for all of its obligations;
- iii. Elections Officer who shall
 - 1. attend all meetings of the State Central Committee and
 - 2. serve as Chairman of the Elections Committee and be responsible for all of its obligations; and
- d. One member elected at large from among the delegates of each respective Congressional District at a Convention. This subsection of the Bylaws would become effective upon adoption.
 - i. Nominations and voting shall be by Congressional District during the Convention.
 - ii. If a District has fewer than 5 members present at the Convention, those members present from that District shall nominate their candidate(s) to be voted on by the full assembly of delegates. In such a case, nominees need not be present but must accept the nomination before it is voted upon.
 - iii. In the case that a Congressional District position is vacant, the State Central Committee shall appoint a member from the same Congressional District, where such a member is available and willing to service, to fill the post for the remainder of the term of that post.

- iv. Organized Parish Executive Committees in a Congressional District may vote to remove an appointed Congressional District Representative by majority vote, with or without cause.
2. The members of the State Central Committee shall take office beginning immediately upon the close of the Convention and shall serve thereafter until final adjournment of the next Regular Convention.
3. The State Central Committee shall have the control and management of all affairs, properties, and funds of the Party consistent with these Bylaws.
4. The State Central Committee shall meet in the manner, times, and places prescribed in the Special Rules.
5. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice of such resignation to the State Central Committee, or to the Chairman or the Secretary of the Party. Unless otherwise specified in such written notice, such resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the State Central Committee or by such officer, and the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
6. A State Central Committee member who fails to attend two consecutive regular meetings of the State Central Committee shall be deemed to have vacated his or her seat.
7. Vacancies which may occur in the State Central Committee, for any reason, shall be filled as follows:
 - a. In the case that the office of Chairman is vacated, the Vice-Chairman shall assume the duties.
 - b. In the case that the offices of Vice-Chairman, Secretary or Treasurer is vacated the State Central Committee shall appoint, a successor to serve the remainder of the term of that office.
 - c. In the case that a member elected from a Parish vacates his position the State Central Committee shall appoint a member from the same Parish, where such a member is available and is willing to serve, to fill the post for the remainder of the term of that post.
 - d. In the case that an At-Large position is vacant, the State Central Committee may

appoint such member to carry out the duties as Chairman of the respective Supporting Committee as he deems fit.

8. Any official appointed by the State Central Committee may be removed by the State Central Committee with or without cause.

ARTICLE 9: SUPPORTING COMMITTEES

1. There is hereby created a Media Relations Committee. It is the responsibility of this committee to
 - a. maintain the Party's various websites;
 - b. prepare press releases;
 - c. respond to all press inquiries to the Party;
 - d. report all Party events to the Press for placement on local community events calendars;
 - e. contact all new members and inquiries to the Party with introductory materials and to assess their level of interest, directing them to the proper resources in the Party to assist them;
 - f. create and produce audio/visual outreach and educational media; and
 - g. train and assist candidates with public speaking engagements.
2. There is hereby created a Finance Committee. It is the responsibility of this committee to
 - a. set Party funding goals;
 - b. plan and budget for Party expenses;
 - c. provide oversight of all Party fund raising activities;
 - d. report the analysis of costs and benefits associated with various proposed policies, projects, and campaigns; and
 - e. work with the Elections Committee assisting candidates with respect to issues of campaign finance laws, rules, and regulations.
3. There is hereby created a Registration Committee. It is the responsibility of this

committee to

- a. conduct voter registration drives;
 - b. oversee get-out-the-vote efforts;
 - c. maintain a current database of all Registered and Associate Party members and National Party members in the State;
 - d. maintain records of dues payments and volunteer commitment fulfillments; and
 - e. credential all registered delegates to Regular and Special Conventions.
4. There is hereby created an Elections Committee. It is the responsibility of this committee to
- a. maintain a current and accurate elections calendar;
 - b. maintain a current and accurate State and Local Offices database;
 - c. assist candidates with meeting legal requirements and educating them on how to run an effective campaign;
 - d. work with the Finance Committee assisting candidates with respect to issues of campaign finance laws, rules, and regulations;
 - e. provide analysis of campaign issues and effectiveness, of opposition candidates, and post-election analysis of results;
 - f. secure and/or conduct demographic analysis and voter patterns for campaigns; and
 - g. secure and/or conduct scientific voter preference surveys for campaign analysis.
5. There is hereby created a Strategic Planning Subcommittee. It is the responsibility of this committee to prepare Action Plans with assigned responsibilities and firm dates of action and completion designed to carry out the Purposes of the Party as outlined in Article 4 of these Bylaws. They shall be composed of:
- a. The Party Vice-Chairman, who shall serve as chairman of this subcommittee and preside at all its meetings; and
 - b. The At Large State Central Committee Members who serve as Chairmen of the

various other Supporting Committees.

ARTICLE 10: PARISH EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

Parishes that organize shall do so as follows:

1. A Parish Executive Committee, hereinafter referred to as a “PEC”, shall be composed of up to the total number of members allotted to it in La RS 18:444.G. These members may be elected At-Large or by respective political subdivision, at the discretion of the PEC.
2. If state and or parish registration has not reached sufficient number to require a state-run election, then the committee shall be chosen by caucus where at least five Registered party members, who are registered to vote in that parish shall be in attendance, without respect to the size of their parish governing body.
3. The Parish Executive Committee shall elect from among themselves a:
 - a. Chairman who shall
 - i. organize and oversee all Party activities within their Parish; and
 - ii. communicate their activities and progress to the State Central Committee Representative responsible for their Parish at least once per quarter; and
 - iii. serve as a proxy for his Parish State Central Committee Representative; and a
 - b. A Vice-Chairman who shall
 - i. be the chief assistant to the Chairman, performing such duties as the Chairman shall prescribe, and holding such executive powers as the Chairman shall delegate;
 - ii. perform the duties of the Chairman in the event the Chairman is, for any reason, unable to perform the duties of his office; and a
 - c. Secretary who shall
 - i. attend all Committee meetings;
 - ii. keep the minutes and records of the Committee;
 - iii. provide such information or reports as required by the Chairman of the Committee; and

- iv. perform such other duties as requested by the Chairman of the Committee; and a
 - d. Treasurer who shall
 - i. be responsible for the receipt, deposit, withdrawal, and disbursement of Committee funds, dues, fees, and/or donations;
 - ii. perform all such other duties as required of him by law and these Bylaws, the Special Rules of the Party, the Chairman of the Committee, and the State Central Committee; and
 - iii. report as requested on financial matters of his Parish to the Party Finance Committee.
- 4. The Parish Executive Committee shall
 - a. be considered a sub-affiliate of the Party and shall be entitled as per the Bylaws of the National Libertarian Party, to use the name “Libertarian Party of” before their Parish name;
 - b. be responsible for voter registration and national membership within their parish;
 - c. be responsible for reporting to the SCC all fundraising activities of the Party within their parish of \$1,000 or more per annum, and forward the Parish Treasurer’s report each month which shall include the name, occupation, and employer of donors larger than \$25;
 - d. be the governing body for all other party matters delegated to them by the State Central Committee; and
 - e. decide their own rules governing their proceedings and for discipline of their members subject to agreement of the State Central Committee and not in conflict with these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party.
- 5. In Parishes where there is insufficient registration to select anyone to the Parish Executive Committee, then the Vice-Chairman of the Party, or his designee, shall see that the duties outlined above are upheld and carried out, until such time as a Committee can be chosen.

ARTICLE 11: FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING

1. The fiscal term of the Party shall begin on the first day following the adjournment of each Regular Convention.
2. The State Central Committee shall cause an efficient double entry system of accounts to be installed and maintained in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America.
3. All disbursements exceeding \$5, shall be made solely by cheque or be documented with notice of payment made/received issued by the payment processor if done by electronic transfer, and receipts on all items purchased shall be kept for the records.
4. The State Central Committee shall have the power to designate the depository of all funds of the Party, and the Treasurer shall deposit and withdraw funds from said depository upon order of the State Central Committee.

ARTICLE 12: CONVENTIONS AND CAUCUSES

1. The Party shall hold a Convention at a time and place to be selected by the State Central Committee, at least 45 days prior to National Convention in even numbered years
2. All Regular Conventions and all Special Conventions may be attended by any person who is a member of the Party, who has paid his annual membership dues, and who registers for such Convention. All such persons shall be considered as delegates to said Convention and shall be eligible for any office.
3. The State Central Committee may provide for Registered Party members who have not satisfied annual dues requirements with a means to register and pay admission to the Convention, excepting that such members may not vote, seek, be elected to, or hold executive office in the party, unless they are granted such privileges by a vote of seven-eighths of the delegates in attendance.
4. A Special Convention may be called by three-fourths of the State Central Committee or by one-third of the members of the Party. Special Conventions may not be held within the sixty days prior the Regular Convention. A notice of sixty days must be given to all members of the Party prior to any Special Convention.
5. There shall be a Convention Planning Committee, a Bylaws and Rules Committee and a Platform Committee for each Regular Convention which shall
 - a. a. each consist of one member from each Parish where possible;

- b. each elect a Chairman from among its members as set forth in the Special Rules of the Party; and
 - c. meet at such times, places, and frequency as directed in the Special Rules of the Party.
6. Parishes shall hold caucuses or conventions according to the Special Rules of the Party where they shall elect as set forth in these Bylaws and the Special Rules of the Party:
 - a. members to the Parish Executive Committee;
 - b. one representative and one alternate to serve on the various convention committees;
 - c. one representative to serve on the State Central Committee; and
 - d. such number of delegates to the National Convention as they shall be entitled to vote upon.
7. The autonomy of the Parish sub-affiliates shall not be abridged by the State Central Committee or other committees of the Party except as provided herein.
8. Only one Parish Convention or Caucus, held once every two years for each Parish, shall be recognized for the purpose of electing any member or members to serve in available positions on the State Central Committee, or any other Committee of the Party, and choosing delegates to the National Convention.
9. Except as provided herein, procedure at the Conventions or Caucuses of the Party shall be in accordance with the Special Rules of the Party and any Rules adopted by a majority of the delegates at such Convention or Caucus.
10. The State Central Committee shall have supervision and management of all Conventions.
11. The officers of each Regular or Special Convention shall be the officers of the Party.
12. The officers of each Parish Convention or Caucus shall be the officers of the Parish Executive Committee.
13. Extraordinary Circumstances
 - a. For good cause shown, any convention, whether or not a time and place has

already been selected, may be held by electronic means. Any such finding of good cause shall be made by a $\frac{3}{4}$ vote of the State Central Committee. Any convention held by electronic means shall be held as close as practical to any date and time previously fixed for the convention.

- b. For the purposes of this section, good cause shall be established by any officially declared state of emergency without the requirement of a vote by the state central committee.
- c. The standards and procedures for any electronic convention shall be determined by the State Central Committee at their sole discretion.

ARTICLE 13: PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Robert's Rules of Order shall be the parliamentary authority for all matters of procedure not specifically covered by these Bylaws or Special Rules of the Party.

ARTICLE 14: AMENDMENT

1. Article 5, Section 1, and this section, of these Bylaws shall only be amended by a vote of at least seven-eighths of the registered delegates at any Regular Convention.
2. Otherwise these Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote at any Convention, or by a majority of all Registered Party members by means of a mail ballot.
3. The Special Rules may be amended by a majority vote at any convention or by a three-fourths vote of the entire SCC with previous notice of the full text of the amendment at the preceding meeting.

ARTICLE 15: JUDICIAL MATTERS

1. Disciplinary action against any Party members shall be provided in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order except as provided herein.
2. Officers and other State Central Committee members may be removed for cause by a two-thirds vote of all members of the State Central Committee.
 - a. The charges against any offending officer must be fully stated in the call for any State Central Committee meeting at which any removal action is planned.
 - b. This call along with the charges must be issued 21 days preceding the meeting.
3. Officers and State Central Committee members may also be removed by a Special Convention of all Party members by a two-thirds vote of convention delegates voting to

carry out the removal. Any vacated office shall thereupon be filled by an election held at that Convention. Such officers shall complete the term of the office vacated.

ARTICLE 16: PROMULGATION OF BYLAWS

The State Central Committee shall promulgate these Bylaws in accordance with applicable law. A copy of these Bylaws and the Special Rules shall be provided to each member of the State Central Committee, each member of Supporting Committees and each Chair of the Parish Executive Committees within 90 days of adoption.

Special Rules of the Libertarian Party of Louisiana

RULE 1: MOTIONS AND DEBATING

1. Debate on any single motion which is debatable shall be limited to three speeches for and against or a total limit of 18 minutes, whichever comes first.
2. Speeches shall be limited to 3 minutes each. The mover shall be required to stand for two minutes for questions if there be any. Subsequent speakers shall stand open for questions if they choose for the remainder of any unused speaking time.
3. Upon reaching the limit of speeches or time allotted for debate, the previous question shall be immediately in order and be pending without a further second.

RULE 2: VOTING ELIGIBILITY AND PROCEDURES

1. The Secretary, acting on behalf of the Registration Committee, shall report the number of delegates registered in attendance and eligible to vote directly after the opening of the first business session, and at the beginning of each succeeding session.
2. All delegates of conventions shall be eligible to vote on all matters, except the choosing of delegates to the National Convention. In order to vote on a given matter, a delegate must be present on the floor at the time the vote is taken. Each delegate present shall have one vote.
3. All members must wear the identification badge issued upon registration in order to be admitted to the Convention.
4. On all matters, except the election of Executive Officers and At-large State Central Committee members, voting will be by voice vote. If one-eighth or more delegates object to the Chair's ruling on the outcome of a voice vote, a counted vote will be held.
5. The Chair may require any motion offered from the Convention floor to be inwriting, signed by the mover and submitted to the Secretary.
6. The Parish State Central Committee Representative shall serve as chair of his parish delegation, unless that delegation selects another of its members to serve as its chair and so notifies the Secretary.
7. In cases where a roll call vote is required, polling shall be by parish. The Secretary will ask for the vote from each parish in alphabetical order, and the chair of each delegation

shall report the vote for that parish. If someone challenges the vote reported by any parish's chair, the Secretary shall poll the delegates from that parish individually.

8. After verifying that the number of votes cast does not exceed the number the parish is entitled to, the chair of each delegation shall submit the ballots to the Secretary. During the period of time allotted for such votes, the business of the convention shall continue without interruption.
9. Resolutions must be approved by a 2/3 vote.
10. Resolutions must not be in conflict with the Statement of Principles.
11. Regardless of the manner, timing or method of choosing delegates and alternates to the National Convention, only Registered Party members residing in organized Parishes are eligible to vote for delegate or alternate.

RULE 3: QUORUMS

1. A quorum for any convention or caucus, on any level of organization shall be five Registered Party members.
2. A quorum for any committee meeting, except the first meeting of any committee and except the State Central Committee, shall be three-eighths of actual members without regard to vacant positions.
3. A quorum for the first meeting of any newly constituted committee shall be a majority of actual members of that committee without regard to vacant positions.
4. A quorum for any subsequent State Central Committee meeting shall be a majority of actual members of that committee without regard to vacant positions.
5. Members who are not present at a physical meeting, but who participate in real time electronically, by whatever means, shall be considered as present for voting and quorum purposes if three-fourths of those in physical attendance agree to count them for such purposes.

RULE 4: CONVENTIONS

1. The standing order of business for a Regular Convention shall be as follows:
 - a. Call to order
 - b. Registration Committee report

- c. Adoption of agenda
 - d. Bylaws and Rules Committee report
 - e. Platform Committee report
 - f. Nomination of candidates for Presidential Elector
 - g. Election of Party Officers
 - h. National Convention Delegate Selection
 - i. Resolutions
 - j. Other business
2. The Bylaws and Rules Committee and The Platform Committee each shall meet before each Regular Convention and prepare reports containing its recommendations. At the convention, the Committee's recommendations shall be reported to the floor with an explanation of intent and purpose of the proposed amendment(s) and be debated and voted on separately.
3. After all Bylaws and Rules Committee or Platform Committee recommendations have received initial consideration, any delegate may propose amendments to the Bylaws and/or the Special Rules.
4. The current Platform shall serve as the basis of all future platforms. At Regular Conventions, the existing Platform may be amended. Additional planks, or amendments to planks, must be approved by 2/3 vote. A platform plank may be deleted by majority vote.
5. Nominations for Party Officers and candidates for Presidential Elector shall be from the floor and require a second. The election shall be conducted in the following manner:
 - a. For each office, a majority vote will be necessary for election.
 - b. In cases where no candidate receives a majority, runoff votes will be held, dropping the candidate with the fewest votes after each ballot.
6. In the event a Parish has not otherwise provided for the election of its representative to the State Central Committee then the delegates from that Parish, present at the convention, shall elect its Parish Representative, provided there are at least five

delegates from that Parish present. Each Parish's delegates may elect their representative in whatever manner they choose, provided all delegates present from that Parish are given equal voice in the selection.

7. Upon election, the new members of the State Central Committee and the several convention committees shall meet in person no later than 30 days after their election in order to establish the committee and set their meeting calendar for their term.
8. The State Central Committee and the several convention committees shall each meet either in person or by electronic means the week prior to the Convention for finalization of any and all proposals, business, agenda or other items to be taken up or conducted at the convention.

RULE 5: NATIONAL CONVENTION DELEGATE SELECTION

Selection of Delegates to the National Libertarian Party Conventions shall be as follows:

1. Where the number of either delegates or alternates due the Party, shall be less than the number of organized Parishes, then such delegates or alternates shall be selected at-large.
2. Where the number of either delegates or alternates shall be equal to the number of organized Parishes, each organized Parish shall be entitled to one delegate and one alternate.
3. Where the number of either delegates or alternates shall be greater than the number of organized Parishes, each organized Parish shall be entitled to one delegate or alternate for their equal proportion of National Party Members to the number of delegates or alternates due to the Party, excepting that no organized Parish shall be granted less than one delegate or one alternate.
4. Any remaining delegates or alternates not chosen due to rounding shall be awarded to the organized Parish with the greatest number of National Party Members.
5. In the case where one or more organized Parishes does not have any members interested in being delegates, then the qualified voters of such organized Parishes shall choose, in order of their National Party membership, from among the excess nominees from the other organized Parishes in order of their National Party membership.
6. If no parishes have organized, then delegate and alternate positions shall be awarded in the order someone expresses interest in attending, in writing or electronic

communication to the Secretary, excepting that any member of the State Central Committee may veto a delegate or alternate so chosen.

RULE 6: NOMINATING CANDIDATES FOR PRESIDENTIAL ELECTOR

Nomination of candidates for Presidential Elector shall be as follows:

1. There shall be one candidate for Elector from each Congressional District, who is constitutionally eligible to serve.
2. There shall be two At-Large candidates for Elector who are constitutionally eligible to serve.
3. Nominations and voting shall be by Congressional District for District candidates, and state-wide for At-Large candidates.
4. Upon selection of nominees, a resolution of the Convention shall immediately be considered formalizing the entire slate of candidates for Presidential Elector. The resolution, upon passage shall be signed by the Party Chairman and the Party Secretary.
5. If any candidate so nominated, fails to submit his or her notarized forms to the Secretary of the Party in a timely manner, then he or she forfeits such nomination, and his or her replacement shall be selected by the Chairman of the Party, who shall amend the Convention Nomination Resolution accordingly, and which amendment shall be signed by the Chairman and Secretary of the Party.

RULE 7: STATE CENTRAL COMMITTEE

1. The State Central Committee shall meet
 - a. at such times and places as may be determined by action of the Committee.
 - b. by call of the Chairman.
 - c. by call of the Vice-Chairman
 - d. by the written request of one-fourth of the actual members of the Committee.
2. A written notice of the time and place of all meetings shall be emailed to each member of the Committee not less than fourteen days prior to said meeting. The attendance of any member of the State Central Committee without protesting prior to the conclusion of the meeting the lack of notice of such meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice by

him or her.

3. The State Central Committee may, without meeting together, transact business by mail or telephone video conference, teleconference, internet chat rooms, or any other means they deem proper.
 - a. Voting on questions submitted by mail or telephone or electronic means to the members must be by or with approval of the Chairman.
 - b. In the case of a vote by mail, the measure being voted upon shall be deemed to have failed if at the expiration of fifteen days, the majority of the Committee have not returned their votes.
 - c. In all other cases, a majority of the votes returned shall carry the measure except where a higher vote is required by the Bylaws.
 - d. The Secretary must preserve all such votes on permanent record and shall advise the Committee members of the vote tallies upon request.
4. In the case that a Committee meeting is held, a member must be present in Committee to vote. No committee member shall be entitled to more than one vote.
5. The Chair, or his designee, shall be responsible to establish and maintain a punch list for executing and planning future conventions and State Central Committee meetings.
6. Each elected party officer or representative shall be responsible to establish and maintain job descriptions and/or manuals for carrying out the duties of their position.
7. Reports from State Central Committee members shall be submitted in advance of the meeting as the chair of the meeting shall so request.
8. The representative of the parish where a State Central Committee meeting or Convention will be held shall be responsible for securing a location and this location shall be reported back to the Chair 30 days prior to the meeting or other such time as the chair shall request, as in the case of conventions, sufficiently in advance to allow for planning, coordination, and notification.
9. All new business shall be emailed to the entire SCC by 14 days prior to any meeting.

RULE 8: PARISH CAUCUSES

1. Parish caucuses shall be held no later than 30 days prior to the next Regular Convention. If there is no Parish Executive Committee in place for a particular parish, it is the responsibility of the Vice-Chairman of the Party to organize the parish caucus by this date.
2. The standing order of business at all parish caucuses shall be as follows:
 - a. Call to order
 - b. Acceptance of delegates
 - c. Adoption of agenda
 - d. Election of Parish Executive Committee
 - e. Election of Regional Convention Committee Representatives and alternates
 - f. Election of a State Central Committee Representative
 - g. Election of National Convention Delegates
 - h. General Business

RULE 9: PARISH EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES

1. Parish Executive Committees shall meet at regular monthly intervals, in the seat of their parish or the largest town or city in their parish, to discuss business, formulate policies, and plan activities. Such meetings shall be open to the general public, excepting that only Registered party members may vote on official matters.
2. Parish Executive Committees shall meet for the first time no later than 30 days after being elected in order to constitute the Committee and set their meeting Calendar for their term.

RULE 10: SUPPORTING COMMITTEES

1. Committees may conduct business by meeting, by mail or telephone, videoconference, teleconference, internet chat rooms, or any other means they deem proper.
2. In the case that a physical Committee meeting is held, a member must be present in Committee to vote.
3. A majority vote of participating members is necessary for a recommendation to pass,

and in the case of the Platform Committee, a majority must approve each specific Plank separately.

4. In the case of a vote by mail, the measure being voted upon shall be deemed to have failed if at the expiration of fifteen days if the majority of the Committee have not returned their votes. In all other cases, a majority of the votes returned shall carry the measure except where a higher vote is required by the Bylaws or the Special Rules.

RULE 11: NONE OF THE ABOVE

1. Votes cast for "None of the Above" in voting on the selection of any member to fill an office, either by election or upon appointment, shall be considered valid.
2. In the event of a runoff election for any purpose, any candidate having fewer votes than "None of the Above" shall be eliminated from further consideration.
3. Should "None of the Above" be selected for any office, that position shall be declared vacant and none of the losing candidates for that position may be selected to fill the vacancy for that term of office.